S274625

No. S _____

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

EVERARDO RODRIGUEZ and JUDITH V. ARELLANO,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

FCA US, LLC,

Defendant and Respondent.

California Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Division Two, Civil No. E073766
Appeal from Riverside County Superior Court
Case No. RIC1807727
Honorable Jackson Lucky, Judge Presiding

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROSNER, BARRY & BABBITT, LLP
Hallen D. Rosner, SBN 109740
Arlyn L. Escalante, SBN 272645
10085 Carroll Canyon Road
Suite 100
San Diego, California 92131
(858) 348-1005 / F: (858) 348-1150
hal@rbblawgroup.com
arlyn@rbblawgroup.com

KNIGHT LAW GROUP, LLP
Roger R. Kirnos, SBN 283163

ISSUE PRESENTED

Should consumers who purchase used vehicles with still-pending new-car express warranties be given protections like other consumers who purchase new vehicles with new-car express warranties? Specifically: Does the phrase “or other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty” in Civil Code section 1793.22’s definition of a “new motor vehicle” cover sales of used vehicles still covered by the manufacturer’s express new car warranty, or are such used vehicles instead outside the protections of the Song-Beverly Act?

INTRODUCTION

The published opinion (“Opinion”) eliminates rights that consumers have enjoyed for decades. One of the core protections of the Song-Beverly Act is the refund-or-replacement remedy in Civil Code section 1793.2, subdivision (d)(2).¹ When vehicle manufacturers fail to repair vehicles within a reasonable number of repair attempts during the warranty period, they are required to “promptly replace” vehicles or “promptly make restitution to the buyer” for the purchase price of a vehicle (§ 1793.2, subd. (d)(2).) This obligation applies to “a new motor vehicle, as that term is defined in paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 1793.22.” (*Ibid.*) That section defines a “new motor vehicle” as “a dealer-owned vehicle and a ‘demonstrator’ or *other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty....*” (§ 1793.22, subd. (e)(2), italics added.) The question is whether a used car purchased from a retail car dealer with an existing new car warranty is “a new motor vehicle” within the meaning of the Act.

Until the Opinion, the answer to this question—based on 27-year-old precedent—was “yes.” *Jensen v. BMW of North America, Inc* (1995) 35 Cal.App.4th 112 (*Jensen*) held that “the words of section 1793.22 are reasonably free from ambiguity and cars sold with a balance remaining on the manufacturer’s new motor vehicle warranty are included within its definition of ‘new motor vehicle.’ The use of the word ‘or’ in the statute indicates ‘demonstrator’ and ‘other motor vehicle’ are intended as

¹ Statutory references are to the Civil Code unless indicated.

alternative or separate categories of ‘new motor vehicle’ if they are ‘sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty.’” (*Id.* at p. 123.) The Legislature intended “to make car manufacturers live up to their express warranties, whatever the duration of coverage.” (*Id.* at p. 127.) The “conclusion [that] section 1793.22 includes cars sold with a balance remaining on the new motor vehicle warranty is consistent with the Act’s purpose as a remedial measure” and “also consistent with the Department of Consumer Affairs’ regulations which interpret the Act to protect ‘any individual to whom the vehicle is transferred during the duration of a written warranty.’” (*Id.* at p. 126.)

The Opinion breaks with *Jensen* and, in so doing, cuts thousands of vehicles out of the Act’s protections.² As this Court has remarked, the Act is a “manifestly a remedial measure, intended for the protection of the consumer; it should be given a construction calculated to bring its benefits into action.” (*Kirzhner v. Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 966, 972, quoting *Murillo v. Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc.* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 985, 990 (*Murillo*)). The Opinion plainly doesn’t do that.

Whether section 1793.22’s “new motor vehicle” definition applies to used cars with unexpired manufacturer-issued new-car warranties is an important, recurring issue. Since 1995,

² The Opinion already has created a deluge of requests and motions by manufacturers and distributors seeking voluntary and involuntary dismissals of pending used car litigation. (See 5/17/2022 Letter by Knight Law Group Requesting Depublication, pp. 2-4.)

thousands of consumers who purchased unrepairable defective used cars have sued, and settled with, manufacturers under the Act in reliance on *Jensen*. Hundreds of cases involving used vehicles have been pending without any challenge on the basis of the vehicle being a used car—until the Opinion was issued.

Jensen's statutory interpretation has been cited and followed in published³ and unpublished⁴ cases. Until the Opinion, only one other Court of Appeal had held that section 1793.22's "new motor vehicle" definition doesn't apply to a used car purchased with an unexpired manufacturer warranty—and this Court depublished that decision.⁵ And the notion that the Act covers used cars sold with still-pending express warranties is

³ See, e.g., *R & B Auto Center, Inc. v. Farmers Group, Inc.* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 327, 335 (the Act "applies to 'cars sold with a balance remaining on the manufacturer's new motor vehicle warranty,'" quoting *Jensen*); *Leber v. DKD of Davis, Inc.* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 402, 408-409 (*Leber*) (*Jensen*'s holding that "a used vehicle sold with a manufacturer's warranty qualified as a new vehicle under [section 1793.22]" applies to manufacturer liability, but not to used car sellers who don't issue their own express warranty].)

⁴ See, e.g., *Petrosian v. Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC* (Apr. 30, 2021, B299629) (nonpub opn.); *Harrison v. Rexhall Industries, Inc.* (Feb 14, 2006, B175984 (nonpub. opn.).

⁵ *Sherman v. General Motors Corp.* (July 15, 1993, B065854) opn. ordered nonpub. Dec. 17, 1993.

We cite to the unpublished decisions not as precedent but only to demonstrate the issue's important, recurring nature. (*Mangini v. J.G. Durand International* (1994) 31 Cal.App.4th 214, 219 [citing unpublished decisions to show issue's important, recurring nature and need for resolution].)

so well-accepted in this area of law that several manufacturers *admit* used cars are considered a “new motor vehicle” under the Act when responding to requests for admission during discovery. (See 5/17/2022 Letter by Knight Law Group Requesting Depublication, p 4.)

The Opinion upends those settled interpretations by holding that the phrase “or other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty” merely qualifies the prior clause that identifies dealer-owned vehicles and demonstrators. (Opn:11-12.) Parting with *Jensen*, the Opinion holds that the Act “*unambiguously* refers to cars that come with a new or full express warranty,” not used cars with an unexpired manufacturer new car warranty. (Opn:12, 15, italics added; compare *Jensen, supra*, 35 Cal.App.4th at p. 123.)

The Opinion’s new interpretation removes thousands of vehicles that are *still subject* to manufacturer express warranties from the Act’s protection even if the manufacturer refuses to or fails to repair the vehicle under the warranty—thus massively reducing a manufacturer’s duty to replace or provide restitution for non-repairable defective vehicles. Instead, manufacturers are now incentivized to try to get unwitting consumers to trade in their defective vehicles—and, in turn, avoid ever having to brand that vehicle a lemon to advise future purchasers.

Though the Opinion claims to distinguish, rather than conflict with, *Jensen*, its statutory-interpretation analysis directly conflicts with *Jensen* and unravels protections for used-car buyers. Because the Opinion finds the Act’s language

unambiguous (where *Jensen* found that the same language was unambiguous the *opposite* way), it never even considers the Act’s remedial purpose—which it undermines. Indeed, the Opinion vitiates the Act’s requirement that manufacturers “promptly” perform a vehicle repurchase or replacement. And a key component of that repurchase-or-replace remedy is that a manufacturer must *brand* the vehicle with a “lemon” title to provide notice to future purchasers about the vehicle’s defective nature. (§§ 1793.23, 1793.24.) But, under the Opinion, if a vehicle is sold or traded into a dealer and then resold, it will *never* be branded as a lemon since nothing in the Commercial Code mandates a manufacturer must brand a vehicle’s title.

The Opinion acknowledges that purchasers of used cars with unexpired manufacturer new-car warranties should have recourse against the manufacturer for non-repairable defects, but holds such recourse is limited to suing the manufacturers under the Commercial Code. (Opn:19.) But that holding ignores that the Legislature enacted the Act’s enhanced remedies, including its refund-or-replace obligation and the consumer’s right to recover attorney’s fees, specifically because the Legislature determined that the Commercial Code’s remedies had *failed* to sufficiently protect vehicle buyers—ordinary consumers who typically lack the financial resources to battle manufacturers without the Act’s protections. “[T]he Act is designed to give *broader* protection to consumers than the common law or [California Uniform Commercial Code] provide.” (*Martinez v. Kia*

Motors America, Inc. (2011) 193 Cal. App. 4th 187, 198
(*Martinez*), italics added.)

Courts should not construe the Act in a manner that undermines the Act's purpose of having manufacturers promptly buy back non-repairable defective vehicles and label them lemons. "Any interpretation that would significantly vitiate the incentive to comply should be avoided." (*Kwan v. Mercedes-Benz of North America, Inc.* (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 174, 184 (*Kwan*).) Yet, the Opinion's interpretation incentivizes manufacturers to shirk their duties, hoping the vehicle will end up in the hands of a used car retailer through repossession or a trade in.

Only this Court can conclusively determine the meaning of section 1793.22's reference to "other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer's new car warranty." Only this Court can determine which statutory-interpretation analysis—the one in *Jensen* or the one in the Opinion—is correct and which best furthers the Act's remedial purpose. Review should be granted.

What's more, because manufacturers are *already* relying on the Opinion in a rapidly increasing number of other pending lawsuits to eliminate claims by buyers of used vehicles, petitioners urge the Court to order that the Opinion is not citable while review is pending. (Cal. Rules of Court, r. 8.1115 (e)(3).)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background.

1. **Petitioners purchase a two-year old vehicle from a used car dealer that remains subject to the manufacturer's five-year new car powertrain warranty.**

Everardo Rodriguez and Judith Arellano (petitioners) purchased a two-year old Dodge Truck from a used car dealership, the Pacific Auto Center. (Opn:2-3.) At the time of the purchase, the truck remained subject to a five-year/100,000-mile powertrain warranty issued by the vehicle's manufacturer, FCA USA LLC (hereinafter, "FCA"). (Opn:3.)⁶

Because the truck had 55,000 miles on it at purchase, FCA's three-year/36,000 new-vehicle warranty mile bumper-to-bumper warranty had expired. (Opn:3.) But FCA's powertrain warranty remained in effect, and it covered the truck's engine, transmission and drive system—the components involved in petitioners' breach-of-warranty claim. (*Ibid.*)

⁶ FCA is the parent company that oversees the Chrysler and Dodge brands. (Opn:2, fn. 2)

2. While the manufacturer's powertrain warranty remains in effect, the vehicle experiences defects covered by the warranty that the manufacturer cannot fix after multiple repair attempts.

While FCA's express powertrain warranty was still in effect, the truck began experiencing repeated engine issues. (Opn:3.) So, petitioners took the vehicle six times to an authorized FCA (Chrysler) dealer for repair. (Opn:3.)

The truck has a defect in the Totally Integrated Power Module, a device in the engine that contains a circuit board and regulates electrical power to the truck's systems. (Opn:4.) FCA performed repairs for petitioners under its express warranty with no charge to petitioners for the warranty work. (Appellant's Appendix filed in E073766, pp. 174-175, 180-192.) FCA could not repair the defects. (Opn:3.)

B. Procedural History.

1. After the manufacturer refuses to comply with the Act's refund-or-replace provisions, petitioners sue the manufacturer under the Act.

After FCA was unable to repair the engine and FCA refused to repurchase the vehicle, petitioners sued FCA under the Act, alleging that FCA violated section 1793.2, subdivision (d)(2). (Opn:4.) Under that statute, if a vehicle manufacturer or its

representative “is unable to service or repair a new motor vehicle, *as that term is defined in paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 1793.22*, to conform to the applicable express warranties after a reasonable number of attempts, the manufacturer shall either promptly replace the new motor vehicle in accordance with subparagraph (A) or promptly make restitution to the buyer in accordance with subparagraph (B).” (§ 1793.2, subd. (d)(2), italics added). (We refer to this obligation as the “refund-or-replace” provision.)

2. The trial court enters summary judgment for the manufacturer, concluding the vehicle was not a “new motor vehicle” as defined by Civil Code section 1793.22.

FCA moved for summary judgment, claiming that petitioner’s vehicle was not a “new motor vehicle” for purposes of the refund-or-replace provision. (Opn:2.)

The “new motor vehicle” definition that is cross-referenced and incorporated into that refund-or-replace provision (i.e., the definition in § 1793.22, subd. (e)(2)), provides in pertinent part that a “[n]ew motor vehicle’ *includes* the chassis, chassis cab, and that portion of a motor home devoted to its propulsion, but does not include any portion designed, used, or maintained primarily for human habitation, a dealer-owned vehicle and a ‘demonstrator’ *or other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty* but does not include a motorcycle or a motor vehicle which is not registered under the Vehicle Code because it

is to be operated or used exclusively off the highways.”
(§ 1793.22, subd. (e)(2), italics added.)⁷

Even though the vehicle was sold to petitioners with FCA’s new-vehicle powertrain warranty still in effect, and even though that warranty was transferred to petitioners when they bought the car, FCA argued that petitioners’ claim failed as a matter of law “because the manufacturer’s refund-or-replace provision applies to new vehicles only, and it was undisputed [petitioners] purchased the truck used.” (Opn:2, 4.)

The trial court granted the summary judgment motion. (Opn:4.) It ruled that “a previously owned vehicle sold with a balance remaining on one of the manufacturer’s express warranties does not qualify as a ‘new motor vehicle’ under the Act.” (*Ibid.*)

⁷ The statute defines a “demonstrator” as “a vehicle assigned by a dealer for the purpose of demonstrating qualities and characteristics common to vehicles of the same or similar model and type.” (§ 1793.22, subd. (e)(2).)

The statute also provides that a “new motor vehicle” generally means “a new motor vehicle that is bought or used primarily for personal, family, or household purposes” but also includes “a new motor vehicle with a gross vehicle weight under 10,000 pounds that is bought or used primarily for business purposes by a person, including a partnership, limited liability company, corporation, association, or any other legal entity, to which not more than five motor vehicles are registered in this state.” (*Ibid.*)

3. The Court of Appeal affirms.

In a published decision, the Court of Appeal (Fourth Appellate District, Division Two), affirmed.

Parting company with decades of statutory analysis in *Jensen, supra*, 35 Cal.App.4th 112, the Opinion concludes that the phrase “other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty” does not cover sales of previously owned vehicles with an existing, unexpired manufacturer’s new car warranty but, instead, only covers “sales of essentially new vehicles where the applicable warranty was *issued with* the sale.” (Opn:3, original italics.) The Opinion determines that “*in isolation* the phrase ‘other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty’ could arguably refer to any car sold with a manufacturer’s warranty still in force” but instead “agree[s] with FCA that context requires a more narrow interpretation.” (Opn:10, original italics.)

The Opinion emphasizes that “the phrase is preceded by ‘a dealer-owned vehicle and demonstrator,’” which according to the Opinion “comprise a specific and narrow class of vehicles” that are used but “have never been previously sold to a consumer and come with full express warranties.” (Opn:11.) In contrast to *Jensen’s* reading of the same phrase, the Opinion concludes the text “indicates the Legislature structured the provision as a list of two vehicles (dealer-owned vehicles ‘and’ demonstrators) followed by an adjectival clause qualifying or describing those vehicles” intended as “a catchall provision to cover a narrow class

vehicle—the previously driven, but basically new (i.e., not previously sold) car.” (Opn:11-12.)

Instead of reading the phrase “other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty” as referring to a vehicle sold with an unexpired manufacturer’s new car warranty, the Opinion leaps to the conclusion that the “clear purpose” of the phrase “is to function as a catchall to ensure that manufacturers cannot evade liability under the Act by claiming a vehicle doesn’t qualify as new because the dealership hadn’t actually used it as a demonstrator.” (Opn:12.)

The Opinion never grapples with the fact that such a car would already fall within the reference to a “dealer-owned vehicle,” making the so-called catchall superfluous. Nor does the Opinion grapple with the fact that its construction would let manufacturers and dealers avoid liability for dealer-owner vehicles, demonstrators, or any car with a still-effective new-car warranty merely by selling or transferring the defective vehicle to another car dealer. Nor does the Opinion grapple with the branding issues—that its interpretation would lead to sales of already defective vehicles to unwary consumers.

The Opinion, after engaging in a “textual” analysis, concludes “the phrase ‘other motor vehicle sold with a manufacturer’s new car warranty’ *unambiguously* refers to cars that come with a new or full express warranty.” (Opn:15, italics added.) The Opinion then states that “even if this meaning weren’t readily apparent from the statute,” the Act’s legislative history supports the same conclusion. (*Ibid.*) The Opinion’s

legislative-history analysis relies primarily on the absence of reference to “used vehicles” in the materials regarding the amendment that added the language at issue. (*Ibid.*)

The Opinion largely ignores *Jensen*’s statutory interpretation. (See § I.A, *post.*) The Opinion instead claims *Jensen*’s facts are “distinguishable” and, by disregarding the scope of *Jensen*’s holding, describes the issue as “one of first impression.” (Opn:16.)

Instead of following *Jensen*, the Opinion analyzes *Kiluk v. Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC* (2019) 43 Cal.App.5th 334 (*Kiluk*), specifically, dicta in footnote 4 of that decision. (Opn:7-8, 18-19.) Citing that footnote, the Opinion reasons: “*Kiluk* questioned the wisdom of an approach that” follows *Jensen*. (Opn: 18.) But the Opinion wholly *ignores* the end of the *Kiluk* footnote which states: “If a term of the warranty is that it is transferrable, then the manufacturer’s duties under the Song-Beverly Act continue posttransfer. This approach enforces the warranty while avoiding the problem of serial implied warranties.” (*Kiluk, supra*, at p. 340.) Thus, if the Opinion had followed *Jensen* and *Kiluk* instead of attempting in earnest to distinguish them or ignore material portions of their rationale, the result would have been, and could only be, the opposite.

The Opinion concludes that although its interpretation denies “the Act’s refund-or replace remedy” to used car buyers such as petitioners, they—as “the beneficiary of a transferrable express warranty”—can still “sue a manufacturer for breach of an

express warranty to repair defects under the California Uniform Commercial Code.” (Opn:19.)

The Opinion never addresses the fact that the Legislature enacted the Act’s enhanced remedies because Commercial Code remedies had not sufficiently protected consumers.

WHY REVIEW IS NECESSARY

I. The Court Should Grant Review To Secure Uniformity Of Decision As To The Meaning Of Section 1793.22’s “New Motor Vehicle” Definition And The Extent To Which It Applies To Used Vehicles With Unexpired Manufacturer New Car Warranties.

Review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision, in particular the conflict between the Opinion and *Jensen, supra*, 35 Cal.App.4th 112—a 27-year-old decision.

A. The Opinion conflicts with *Jensen*.

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