S274625

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

EVERARDO RODRIGUEZ et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

FCA US, LLC, Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO CASE NO. E073766

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP LISA PERROCHET (BAR NO. 132858) JOHN A. TAYLOR, JR. (BAR NO. 129333) *SHANE H. MCKENZIE (BAR NO. 228978) 3601 WEST OLIVE AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR BURBANK, CALIFORNIA 91505-4681 (818) 995-0800 • FAX: (844) 497-6592 lperrochet@horvitzlevy.com jtaylor@horvitzlevy.com

CLARK HILL LLP

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. There is no conflict of authority requiring resolution by this Court. *Rodriguez* agrees with *Jensen* and other cases holding that used cars are not subject to the Act's protections for new cars.

The petition argues that review is warranted in order "to secure uniformity of decision." (PFR 22.) Not so.

Specifically, petitioners argue that the opinion "breaks with" *Jensen*, *supra*, 35 Cal.App.4th 112. (PFR 10.) But the opinion *agrees* with *Jensen* that buyers like Ms. Jensen—who received a full new car warranty direct from the manufacturer can demand that the manufacturer buy back that vehicle in the event it cannot be repaired under warranty. (Typed opn. 16–18.)

Distinguishing *Jensen*, the Court of Appeal explained that the Legislature set up a system in which *manufacturers* are responsible for replacing or repurchasing defective *new* consumer products (including "new motor vehicles"), while *retail sellers and distributors* who warrant used products are responsible for replacing or repurchasing *used* products that do not conform to those warranties. (See typed opn. 6–8; see also §§ 1791, subd. (a), 1793.2, subd. (d), 1795.5.) The decision below leaves this wellsettled framework in place, allowing consumers of *new* vehicles like Jensen and *used* vehicles like Rodriguez to pursue SongBeverly claims against the parties who warranted and sold them defective vehicles.

Against this backdrop, it becomes clear why the Court of Appeal in *Jensen* held that the defendant manufacturer owed a repurchase obligation on the unusual facts before the court. The manufacturer's dealer told Ms. Jensen that the car she was leasing was essentially a new car, having been driven only as a dealer demonstrator, and the dealer leased the car "with a *full* manufacturer's warranty issued by the manufacturer's representative." (Typed opn. 18.) Far from creating a split with *Jensen*, the opinion in this case *expressly* agrees with *Jensen* given the distinguishable facts in that case. (Typed opn. 17 ["we think *Jensen* was correctly decided"].) By contrast, petitioners were under no misimpression that the two-year-old car they bought with over 55,000 miles, and with no additional warranty issued specifically to them in connection with the sale, was "new."

Petitioners assert that FCA argued there was a split of authority. (PFR 27.) But as the opinion makes clear, there is no split of authority. FCA argued below that *Jensen*'s legal reasoning relating to the balance of the original warranty was unpersuasive dicta that should not be applied on the facts here. (RB 15.) In the alternative, FCA also argued that, if that reasoning was somehow essential to the outcome in *Jensen* (it was not), there was at least a "split of authority" on the issue. (See FCA's Motion for Judicial Notice 7–8, filed 3/26/2021 in E073766.) The Court of Appeal agreed that one aspect of *Jensen*'s legal reasoning was unpersuasive (typed opn. 18), but

13

did not conclude there was an irreconcilable conflict (typed opn. 16–18). Mere disagreement over legal reasoning does not create a conflict this Court must resolve "to secure uniformity of decision." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1); see *Morgan v*. *Mutual Ben. Life Ins. Co.* (1911) 16 Cal.App. 85, 95 [where appellate court decision was correct for one valid reason, error of another reason did not justify Supreme Court review].)

The Court of Appeal's opinion does not stand alone. It is telling that, in 27 years, no subsequent appellate decision has extended *Jensen*'s legal reasoning to cover facts like those in the present case. To the contrary, there is a consistent line of cases finding that used car purchasers—who have a number of statutory, contractual, and common law remedies at their disposal—are not entitled to the special statutory repurchase remedy that manufacturers owe under the Act to purchasers of new motor vehicles.

In Dagher v. Ford Motor Co. (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 905, 912 (Dagher), the plaintiff purchased a used truck still under the original warranty from a private party. Dagher held the plaintiff had no claim against the manufacturer under the Act, which requires the purchase of a new product from a retail seller, because he was not a statutorily defined "buyer" from a statutorily defined "seller." (Id. at p. 924.) Petitioners misconstrue Dagher as holding only that the Act's refund-orreplace provision against manufacturers does not apply to private-party sales. (PFR 30.) But Dagher also rejected the plaintiff's argument that he could sue the manufacturer simply because the sale resulted in the transfer of remaining balance of the original warranty (see *Dagher*, at pp. 911–912), explaining that the Act treats new and used vehicles differently (*id.* at p. 921). *Dagher* further emphasized that *Jensen* "must be read in light of the facts then before the court." (Typed opn. 17.)³

Kiluk v. Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC (2019) 43 Cal.App.5th 334, 340 & fn. 4 (Kiluk) similarly expressed reservations about Jensen's reasoning on the "new motor vehicle" issue but also agreed with Jensen's outcome. (See typed opn. 18.) In Kiluk, the manufacturer had "stepped into the role of a retailer" by "partnering with the dealership" "to sell used vehicles directly to the public by offering an express warranty as part of the sales package," and thus could be sued under the Act's provision for used vehicles, section 1795.5. (Kiluk, at p. 340.)⁴ Evidence of the

³ The additional cases cited by petitioners must also be considered based on their facts, and thus are unhelpful to their petition. (See PFR 11, fn. 3, citing *R & B Auto Center, Inc. v. Farmers Group, Inc.* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 327, 335, fn. 4, 347 [in insurance coverage case relating to "lemon law coverage," *Jensen* was irrelevant because record did not indicate whether the vehicle had a remaining balance on the warranty when purchased]; *Leber v. DKD of Davis, Inc.* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 402, 408–409 [explaining that definition of "new motor vehicle" was "inapplicable" to claims against retail sellers]; PFR 11, fn. 4, citing *Harrison v. Rexhall Industries, Inc.* (Feb. 14, 2006, B175984) 2006 WL 330547, at pp. *7–*9 [nonpub. opn.] ["new motor vehicle" issue was irrelevant because "coach portion of a motor home is expressly excluded from the definition"].)

⁴ One of the nonpublished decisions cited in the petition presents facts nearly identical to those in *Kiluk*, which likely explains why the "new motor vehicle" issue was neither raised nor decided. (See PFR 11, fn. 4, citing *Petrosian v. Mercedes-Benz*

partnership and the terms of section 1795.5 would have been irrelevant under petitioners' construction of the Act.

Petitioners focus on two sentences in *Kiluk* to advance the theory that there is some conflict with *Rodriguez*. (PFR 21.) But *Kiluk*, like the *Rodriguez* opinion, concludes that used vehicles with balances remaining on original warranties *cannot be* "new" vehicles under the Act because such an interpretation would create serial implied warranty obligations, which the Act expressly prohibits. (*Kiluk, supra*, 43 Cal.App.5th at 340, fn. 4.) *Kiluk* also states that *some* manufacturer duties under the Act continue posttransfer to a new owner (*ibid*.)—e.g., the 30-day repair obligation under section 1793.2, subdivision (b)—but that does not transform used cars into "new motor vehicles" as to which a special repurchase remedy applies.

Petitioners dismiss the analysis in *Dagher* and *Kiluk* as "dicta" (PFR 27–28), arguing that the remainder of the original warranty in those cases was "*not alone dispositive*" (PFR 30; see PFR 28). But the same is true in *Jensen*: the fact that Ms. Jensen's car had a balance remaining on its warranty was not dispositive under the Act. The fact that the car was sold *as a new car with a new car warranty* was dispositive. (Typed opn. 16–18.)

In any event, petitioners agree there is no conflict between *Jensen*, *Dagher*, and *Kiluk*, because "[n]either *Kiluk* nor *Dagher* holds that *Jensen* was incorrectly decided." (PFR 28.) The same

USA, LLC (Apr. 30, 2021, B299629) 2021 WL 1712641, at p. *1 [nonpub. opn.] [manufacturer provided second express warranty upon sale of the certified preowned vehicle from affiliated dealership].)

logic applies to the *Rodriguez* opinion, which goes one step further and expressly concludes *Jensen* was *correctly* decided.

Nunez v. FCA US LLC (2021) 61 Cal.App.5th 385, 389 (Nunez), is yet another decision consistent with the opinion's description of the basic framework of the Act: "Under the lemon law, only distributors and retail sellers, not manufacturers, are liable for breach of implied warranties in the sale of a used car where, as here, the manufacturer did not offer the used car for sale to the public."

Federal district court cases have reached the same conclusion. In Johnson v. Nissan North America, Inc. (N.D.Cal. 2017) 272 F.Supp.3d 1168, 1179 (Johnson), the court ruled that "[b]ecause the Song-Beverly Act does not create any obligation on behalf of Nissan, the original car manufacturer, with respect to used goods," plaintiffs who purchased used vehicles sold by CarMax could not sue manufacturers under the Act. In re MyFord Touch Consumer Litigation (N.D.Cal. 2018) 291 F.Supp.3d 936, 949–950 agreed with the manufacturer that "used car purchasers do not have a claim under the Song-Beverly Act" to the specific remedies imposed on manufacturers in connection with "new motor vehicle" sales; such purchasers can assert claims against *the retail seller or distributor*, but not the manufacturer, unless the manufacturer was functionally the seller or distributor in the used car transaction. In Victorino v. FCA US LLC (S.D.Cal. 2018) 326 F.R.D. 282, 300-301, the customer who bought a used car from a manufacturer's "authorized dealership" could not pursue remedies against the manufacturer and was

limited to remedies against the seller, as there was no evidence the manufacturer partnered with the dealer in the used car sale so as to become the retail seller or distributor.

Petitioners argue that cases consistent with the *Rodriguez* opinion regarding a manufacturer's *implied* warranty obligations as to used vehicles under the Act—like Johnson and Nunez—are irrelevant. (See PFR 29–32.) They are highly relevant because the reason the plaintiffs in *Johnson* and *Nunez* could not pursue implied warranty claims against Nissan and FCA was that they had bought their cars used (albeit still under warranty), and their claims were thus subject to section 1795.5. (See Nunez, *supra*, 61 Cal.App.5th at p. 390, 399; *Johnson*, *supra*, 272 F.Supp.3d at pp. 1172, 1178–1179.) That section conditions a manufacturer's (express and implied) statutory obligations on "used" vehicles on facts not present in *Rodriguez*: the manufacturer owes a repurchase or replacement remedy only if it effectively acts as the seller in the used car purchase transaction. (See § 1795.5, subd. (a).) The cases' analysis of the provision specifically addressing used cars confirms that the provision addressing "new motor vehicles" does not apply to used cars.

Petitioners attempt to manufacture a distinction to explain away the fact that their interpretation of "new motor vehicle" creates serial implied warranties, a result inherently in conflict with the Act's one-year limitation on such warranties. (See *Kiluk, supra,* 43 Cal.App.5th at 340, fn. 4; § 1791.1, subd. (c).) Petitioners argue that the definition of "new motor vehicle" applies only to a manufacturer's *express* warranty obligations

under sections 1793.22 and 1793.2, not to its *implied* warranty obligations under other provisions of the Act that use the term "consumer goods," not "new motor vehicle." (PFR 28–29; see § 1792 ["every sale of consumer goods . . . shall be accompanied by the manufacturer's and the retail seller's implied warranty"].) It would appear petitioners are thus conceding that the new motor vehicle repurchase remedy is unavailable for breach of implied warranties. But whether they agree with that or not, they do not explain how a used car that fits within their definition of a "new motor vehicle" is not a "consumer good" under the Act. (See § 1791, subd. (a) [" 'Consumer goods' means any new product"].) If petitioners were correct that used cars purchased with the remainder of the original owner's warranty are "new motor vehicles" but not "consumer goods" under the Act, then purchasers of those "new motor vehicles" could not recover damages at all. (See § 1794, subd. (a) [only buyers of "consumer goods" may sue under the Act].) This result provides further evidence that petitioners' interpretation collapses under serious scrutiny.

In short, the Court of Appeal's decision merely confirms a consistent line of authority holding that vehicles sold as used cars should be treated as such under the Act.

- II. The opinion is not a sea change in the law that strips used car purchasers of breach of warranty remedies.
 - A. Despite petitioners' unsupported assertions, used cars have not been considered "new motor vehicles" for decades.

Petitioners argue that the opinion "materially *narrows* the Act's existing scope" (PFR 34), but that argument is premised on the assumption that everybody has understood for decades that *all* used cars with some balance remaining on their existing warranties are "new motor vehicles" under the Act. That is false.

There is no evidence that *consumers* have *ever* understood used vehicles were subject to Song-Beverly's special repurchase and replacement remedies for "new motor vehicles." The top left corner of every automobile sales contract clearly states whether the vehicle is "new" or "used." (See, e.g., AA 114.) And, as petitioners admit, "used vehicles already come with the implication that they are less reliable than brand-new vehicles." (PFR 42.) The reasonable assumption is that consumers would *not* believe their *used* cars are considered *new* cars under California's lemon law.⁵

⁵ Petitioners claim that some unspecified number of consumers "bought used cars believing they had the Act's protections," citing the 5/17/2022 Letter by Knight Law Group (KLG) Requesting Depublication. (PFR 43.) However, it is inappropriate to incorporate this letter by reference. (See California Rules of Court, rule 8.504(e)(3).) In any event, KLG's letter does *not* provide any evidence (or even unfounded speculation) regarding KLG's clients' supposed understanding of the Act's protections when *any* of them purchased their vehicles.

Petitioners' counsel concedes that at least "one member of the [appellate] panel demonstrated surprise to Plaintiff/Appellant's counsel's assurances that used vehicle cases were commonly prosecuted under the Song-Beverly Act." (KLG depub. req. 2.) That alone belies petitioners' claim that legal professionals have uniformly agreed used vehicles are commonly treated as "new motor vehicles" under the Act. And if there were any such consensus, FCA obviously would not have raised the argument that prevailed in this case.

Plaintiffs' attorneys have on occasion sought to stretch the definition of "new motor vehicle," but the line of authority from *Dagher* to *Nunez* discussed above demonstrates that there has been no consensus among manufacturers, their counsel, and even the lemon law plaintiffs' bar that manufacturers owe used car owners the repurchase remedy reserved for "new motor vehicles" under sections 1793.2, subdivision (d), and 1793.22. If there were such a consensus, the analysis in those cases about the scope of manufacturers' liability as retail sellers of used cars under section 1795.5 would have been irrelevant.

Petitioners assert that the opinion has "created a deluge" of requests for dismissal of pending used car cases, citing counsel's request for depublication. (PFR 10, fn. 10.) This Court should disregard petitioners' counsel's ipse dixit claims about a handful of pending cases (see *ante*, p. 20, fn. 5), but if the Court is inclined to consider those anecdotal examples, this Court should be aware that petitioners' counsel has misrepresented the procedural history in those cases. (See, e.g., 6/3/2022 Letter by M. Skanes

21

and 6/3/2022 Letter by M. Lee, Letters Opposing Petition for Review.) In fact, these cases prove that manufacturers did *not* ascribe to petitioners' view well before the Court of Appeal's decision. (*Ibid.*; see 5/27/2022 FCA opp. to depub. req.)⁶ In most of the cases referenced by petitioners, manufacturers have simply renewed prior defenses based on the new authority and guidance that the opinion provides. (*Ibid.*)

B. Used car purchasers will continue to have multiple avenues to enforce their warranties.

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